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SOUTHAMPTON CHESS CLUB

! A Short History of the Club
by H. L. PARSONS

PREFACE

In a short history it is impossible to do justice to the many members
both past and present who have contributed to the success of the club, so
those mentioned are mainly those who have given sustained support for
twenty years or more. The names of others will be found in the lists of
g officers, championship winners, and present members contained in the later
pages of this Handbook.

: The history of the club divides roughly into three periods, 1883-1918;
! 1918-1945; (club meetings were suspended 1939-45) and 1945-1982.
i These periods naturally overlap, but the dates make a convenient guide line.



EARLY HISTORY 1883 -1918

The Southampton Chess Club is almost certainly well over one hundred years old. No
racords can be found prior to January 1883. The first Is a circular letter,

163, High Street,
SOUTHAMPTON.

January 26th, 1883.

Proposed Chass Club for Southampton
Dear Sir,

A meseting will be held on Tuesday Evening next, January 30th at half past seven
{under the Presidency of W. C. Westlake, Esqg., J.P.} at the above address — Semldini's*
Restaurant — for the purpose of forming a Southampton Chess Club.

If you cannot make it convenient to attend the meeting you will eblige by stating on
a Post Card addressed to Geo. Sloper, Esq., 8, Cranbury Terraca, whether you are willing
to become a Membaer.

We are, dear Sir,
Yours faithfully,
J. H. Blake
Geo. Sioper
Wm. Williams.

At this meeting R. Chipperfield Esq. was elected President; Mr. J. H. Blake, Secretary;
Wm. Williams, Treasurer, This was followed by a further circular letter with an application
form attached.

| hereby state that | am willing to become a membser of The Southampton Chess Club.

.......................................... Signatura

.......................................... Address.

St. Lawrence Road,
Southampton.

February, 2nd 1883.
Dear Sir,

At a meating of chess players held at 163 High Street {Semadeni's® Rastaurant] on
Tuesday Evening, January 30th, under the Presidency of W. C. Wastlake, Esq. J.P., it was
unanimously decided to re-establish a Chess Club in Southampton.



{Note : The re-establish shows that a club must previcusly have existed but bscome
defunct.) The letter continues :—

The Committee were empowered to arrange Correspondence and Qut and Home
Matches with other Clubs, and Tournaments amongst the members. The Chess term will
be from 1st September to 30th April, and the practice nights Monday and Friday from
7 till 11, commencing on Monday next, the 5th instant, at 163, High Street when you are
invited to be present and join the club. I unable to attend on that occasion, you will much
oblige by signing and returning to me the counterfoil.

I am, dear Sir,
Yours faithfully,
J. H. Blake, Hon. Sec.

* Note two different spellings; also the frequent use of capital letters for common nouns.

Of the original 58 members, quite a number continued their association with the elub
for many years.

Mr. Robert Ghipperfield remained an active president for 24 years until a month before
his 90th birthday in 1907. From 1820-1907 he was also president of The Hampshire
Chess Association. For another 4 years until his death, he remained a paying vice president
of both. He left an annuity of § guineas to the club. But thers were legal difficulties
arising from the will, which took nearly flve years 10 soive (1911-1916). Togsther with
other items in the wiil, these were settlied out of court after a decision in Chancery. The
Club waived their claim to the five guineas annuity bequest, on the undertaking of Mr.
Edmund Chipperfield to pay £100 out of his own money. This was invested in bonds.
The Chipperfield family presented the club in 1914 with a handsome set of ivory chaess
men and a board, which, since the club championship proper was started in 1921, has been
the trophy awarded tg¢ the winner,

Mr. J. H. Blake was sacretary for the first 17 years and served on the committes for
another 7 years, before leaving the town to live in London in 1907, For his services to the
club he was made a “Vice President for Life”’. He continued to play in matches and played
top board for Hampshire for many more vears. He continued to show interest in the club
until his death in 1951 aged 90. His last gift to the club was a fremed photograph of
himself at the age of 90 playing the youngest member of the Kingston club, of which he
was then a member. The strongest player the club ever had, he was Amateur Champion
of England in 1892, and tied with H. E. Atkins in 1909 but |ost the play off. He was City
of London Champion in 1812, His greatest succass was in 1922 when he won a tourna-
ment at Weston Super Mare above Maroczy, Kostich, and Yates and in the same year won
The British Individual Correspondence Championship. He was the prime mover in the
formation of The Hampshire Chess Association in 1890, which received the unanimous
approval of all club members and enthusiasm from the leading members, He was president
of the Hampshire Chess Association 1910-1914 and 1927-32. In 1934 he was made the
first Honorary Life Vice President of the Association. In 1889 he joined the editorial staff
of the British Chess Magazine and did not finally sever that connaction until failing eyssight
caused him to resign as Games Editor, in 1937.



The Third Founder membar, who gave 37 years activa service was Mr. Jamas Fewings,
Headmaster of The Grammar School ({later King Edward VI School) then in Bugla Streat.
He acted az Chairman of Committee on tha few occasions when the President was absent
and represented the club {(1904—1911) on the committee of The Hampshire Chass
Association. He and Mr. W. F. Sandall {Treasurer} mst Capablanca at the Docks in
August 1909. Thay tried to gst him for a simultaneous, but it was impossible to maka
the arrangements in time.

Mr. G. R. Sloper whose nama is ona of three appearing on the criginal letter proposing
the establishment of the club, was active for 20 years, and reprasented the club on the
County Committes from 1830-1903. Several committee meetings were held at his house
during the first year.

Mr. E. P. Westlake was very active for 8 ypars as a member of the Committes and
was the first to volunteer as a tsller for Dr. Zukertort's blindfold sxhibition. After 1892
he remained a paying vica president for a further 39 years, but seems to have taken no
further part in the organisation of the club.

The last of the Founder members with long service, was Mr. W. Williams. He was
treasurer for the first 17 years, and on the committee for 7 more years. In 1207 he was
made a ““Member for Life’" which lasted until 1819,

In these early days thers was no season such as we have now, and although there was
no play from May to August inclusive, subscriptions covered January to June and July to
December.

The rules of the game waere based on Staunton’s Handbook and it was 1885 before
it was decided that the player having the first move in each game, should play with the
White man. In 1833 it was decided that the rules should be changed from ‘'in Staunton’s
Chess Players’ Handboak’' to ''in the book of the London (1883) Tournament'.

Mr. W, G. Tracy joined the club in September 1883 and served the club for 21 years.
In 1898 he was thanked for various repairs. These included covering the base of all the
boxes of men with baize to prevent them damaging the boards. On the committea from
18921900 and treasurer from 1900-04, he died in 1205.

Mr, W. C, Kenny joined in December 1883 and he (together with Mr. F. J. H. Elwell})
had a tremendous influence in the club during the early years of the 20th century. In 1907
he followsd Robert Chipperfield as President, until 1921 when he resigned through ill
health. He died in 1922. From 1894—-1911 he was a delegaie to the Hampshire Chess
Association, of which he was secretary 1881-3 and President 1909-10, For many years
he gave a bound volume of the British Chess Magazine as a gift to the club, which had a
librarian to look after these and other books. WMr. Kenny was appointed the first librarian
in 1886, a post which ha held until Mr. Elwe!l succeedsad him in 1891 until 1909,

During this early period thera were several outstanding events in addition to the usual
club games and matches against other clubs. Within a year of its formation, the Committee
weare considering an invitation to Mr. Blackburne to give a simultaneous display, but this



did not take place. A year later in 1884 Dr. Zukertort offered to give a simultaneous and
blindfold exhibition for six guineas plus two guineas expenses on Novermber 13 and 14.
He played 26 players simultangously, winning 24, drawing 1, and losing 1. The greater
feat was playing 12 blindfold simultaneous games, winning 7, drawing 4, losing 1. A few
years later on February 13th, 14th, 1888, Mr. Blackburne played 22, winning 16, drawing
4, losing 2 to Mr. J. H. Blake and W. C. Kenny. The press report states, *'Mr. Blackburne
is a slower player than Dr. Zukertort who is an exceptionally rapid mover.” On the second
night Mr. Blackburne took 6 hours playing blindfold against 8 opponents, losing again to
Mr. Blake, and also te Dr. Hemming. W. C. Kenny was one of four who drew,
and Blackburne's only wins were against G. R. Sloper and E. P. Westlake.

Matches were played against Bournemouth, Portsmouth, Brighton, Chichester, Salis-
bury, The Isle of Wight, and Oxford University, and were usually won except against
Brighton. A guote from the press about the loss to Brighton, 1885 : “The result is not
surprising when the circumstances of the respective combatants are considered. First, the
population of Brighton is nearly twice that of Southampton. Then the chess players who
go to do battle in its name, are not drawn simply from a club, but ars chosen from among
all the chess players of that large community; consegquent mainly, on chass playing being
promoted and fostered by the Corperation of Brighton, who supply its inhabitants with a
free chess room, open daily from 10 a.m. to 10 p.m. [f this privilega existed in
Southampton, there is no doubt that its chess playing strength would be rapidly and largely
developed™.

The lizt of the names and addresses of Southampton Chess Club members shows that
most lived within a few minutes’ walk. R. Chipperfield, Redcliffe House, Above Bar;
W. Williams, 21 Oxford Street; J. H. Blake, St. Lawrence Road {opposite No. 3 dock gate);
J. Fewings. Bugle Street; W. C. Kenny, 74 High Street (by 1890 he had moved to
Fraemantla Hause, Hill, a small mansion in a larga park, where the poet Cowper often
stayed in the 18th century. It was in the area now bounded by Paynes Road, Millbrook
Road, Park Road}.

Ona of the moest difficult problems for the club throughout its history has been that of
finding suitable pramises at a reasonable price. It moved from its first venue Semadeni’s
Restaurant, 163, High Street, after eight months, to Helvetia Restaurant, 141, High Strest.
Twa years later it moved to Adelaide Restaurant, Scullard’s Hotel, 61 Above Bar, {next to
whera Above Bar Post Office is now). Here it remained for 23 years.

In 1890 Mr. E. N. R. Harvey presentad a silver cup value ten guineas for competition
annually for a handicap tournament. This is the cup which is now awarded (since handicap
competitions have gone out of fashion) to our junior under 18 vears of age winner.

In 1891 Mr. Harvey, who was a member far only 5 years, offered £40 towards the
expenses of arranging a ratch in Southampton lasting several weeks, betwean Mr.
Blackburne and Gunsberg. Arrangements broke down owing to the difficulty of finding
officials wha could be in attendance continuously for four or five weeks. A large increase
in attendance of members in 1835 led to renting a larger room at Scullard's Hotel. Mr.
Chipperfield presented a board to the club to be awarded annually to the winner of @ new



tournament started in that year and inaptly called “The Juniar Trophy'' Tournament, as it
was open to all players of moderate strength who were not considered strong enough to
enter for the Cup Competition, and it had nothing to do with agse. The trophy would only
pass out of the Club on being won three times in succaession by the same player. This
has never been achiaved, and the board is still tha trophy for the moderate strength players.

Matches against other clubs continued to be friendlies until the County Trophy
Competition was started in 1896. Most of the moembers whose names and addresses
appeared a few paragraphs above, contributed to buy the trophy, which is stilt used today :—
One set of finest ivory chess men No. 1 size, full club Staunton Pattarn; and one County
Board No. 1 size to match, in holly and rosewood squares (2% inches): board edged with
satin wood, solid rosewood frama, Itallan walnut panels, French polished. The
Southampton Club had to divide its strength originally into two equal strength teams, but
later this was increased io three and even four equal strength teams (and Portemouth up to
threg} to aliow other teams a chanca.

The Southers Counties Chess Union had bean formed a few vyears earlier on
September 3rd 1892 at the Salutation Tavern, Newgate Street, E.C. Hampshire's delegates
for a number of years were J. H. Blake and W. C. Kenny, with G. R. Sloper replacing the
latter for a time.

The County invited the Union to hold its Annual Tournamant in Southampton in 1887,
and the Union accepted. Most of the work of organising the tournament was done by a
sub-committes of Messrs Kenny, Fewings, Sloper, and Dr. Dadd. Tha event took place
from August 31st to September 7th at the new Grammar Sechool which had moved from
Bugle Street to Havelock Road, West Marlands. It was the mast important event ever held
in the county for many years. Thraa club members competed, Mr. F. J. H. Elwell won
third prize in the Amateur Championship of England {won by Mr. H. E. Atkins, Leicester).
Mr. Kanny tied for first prize in Class 2.

Mr. Elwel! was the second strongest player the club has ever had, and was an active
member far 58 years from 1888-19486, and an Honorary Life Vice President of the club
for ancther 7 years until his death In 19%3. He was President of the club for 25 years
{1921-48). He won the Club Championship (which was not started until 1921) on 13
occasions out of 18, with 4 consecutive wins 1927-30 inclusive. The champlonship was
restricted to a limited number of players and played at 20 moves an hour. He won the
Hampshira Champiorship when that was first played in 1930, and repeated this in 32, 34,
36, and 37. It is interesting to record a paragraph from the 9th Annual Report of 1892,
“The second Annual Handicap Tournament for the Cup presented by Mr. Harvey, resulted
in a win for Mr. Elwell with the loss of only one game of the twelve played, & success
which has led to his being handicapped at the present time to give odds to ail those whom
he has played on even terms in pravious tournaments. So rapid a progress as Mr. Elweli
has made since joining the ¢lub in September, 1888, is quite unprecedented in the club’s
history, and Mr. Eiwell's chess future will undoubtedly be watched with kean interest not
meraly by members of this club, but by Hampshire chess players at largs’”. About the same
time as he was librarian {1891-1909) he was also match captain {from 1900-02 and



1908-10). He was honorary adjudicator for The Southampton Chess League for nearly
30 years. He was sacretary and treasurer of the Hampshire Chess Association 1893-85,
After J. H. Biake' retirement he playad top board for Hampshire.

Mr. H. J. Penwill {1891-1930) was club secretary 1900-07; match secretary
1917-19; and secretary of the Hampshire Chass Association T904-23.

Mr. W. H. Killick (1895-1918) was an active member 1898-1913 and treasurer
1908-~13. His nams seems to appear in the minutes more times than that of any other
member.

The Annual General Meeting of the club was heid at the beginning of each year until
1901, when it was changed to October.

1907 must have been a notable year when Messrs. Chipperfield, Blake, and Williams
all ceased to be active at the same time after 24 years service.

On the 10th Aprit, 1908, the members unanimously passed a resolution, "“That it is
desirable in the interests of the club to hold our meetings on unlicensed premises’”. In
Saptember the move was made to the Bungalow Cafe, 157 Above Bar {just below
Plummers Store}.

The first lightning tournament was a knock-out held on 3rd September, 1912, Mr.
Elwell acted as timekeeper, and the moves were made at the stroke of a gong. Mr. Kenny
was the winner.

During the 1914—18 war, meetings were held at tha Grammar School. The club
seems to have continued throughout the war with littla change in membership or activitias.

BETWEEN THE TWO WARS 1919 - 45

Socn after the first World War the recurring problem of accommeodation again had to
be solved. St. Paul’s Parish Room in Bedford Place was rented for a few months but found
unsatisfactory and a return was made to their pre-war room at the Bungalow Cafe. Two
years later another move was made to the Grosvenor Cafe, 43, Above Bar, The cafe was
ovor the cake shop on the corner of Spa Road. The club remained there for § years when
a move was made to The Carlton Hotel, Cariton Crescent in 1929., Mr, W. O, Robertson,
secretary of the club from 1920-25, and the donor of the Robertson Cup for an annual
knock-out cempetition among Southampton Chess League clubs, resigned as there was in-
sufficient ventilation. Shortly afterwards, the hotel management agreed to allow the ciub
the use of the newly built annexe at the rear, and adjoining the Georgian House used as
the main part of the hotsl. This was the most comfortable venue the club has had in its
long history.

My own first contact with the club was made in September, 1921, ona year before
the Southampton Chess League was formed. At the start of its second season in com-
petitive chass, Taunton's School played a match against 2 Southampton Club team minus



its best playars, and won 41-1%. | was the only one to lose {on top board to Mr. W. O.
Robertson). As a result of this victory, Taunton’s School was invited to join the Hampshire
Leagua whaera thay finished in third pface. The Hampshire Leagua match betweasn the two
teams a few weeks later was drawn 3-3, and | was again among the losers, being beaten
by Mr. Duffey at top board. He was tha winner of the Trophy Board that year with a score
of 8 out of 8 and of The Continuous Tournamant.

Mr. Elwell continued to dominate during this period, but a rising star was Mr. W. J.
Fry. who joined in 1913 and was the next strongest player aftar Mr. Elwell, and one with
whom | had very close associations in chess circles. He and | playad boards one and two
for many years for the Old Tauntonians after that team was formed in 1926; we were
associated together in the formation of the Southampton Chess League in 7922 he was
chairman of the league from 1237 until his sudden death in Qc¢tober, 1954 at the age of
58, while | was secretary of the league from 1928-19260. He first won the club champion-
ship in 1926, then in 1931 and 34. But his greatest successes were after the war, which
anded in 1945, Ha won every year from 1946-54 inclusive except in 1947, and had 7
successive wins. A very sound positional player with an excellent knowledge of the open-
ings, he rarsly won by brilliant combinations, but by his excellent end game technigue.
He was also good at solving chess problems, particutarly three movers. At various times
ha was tournament secretary (1920-21; 28-31; 35-47). From 1916-19 he was club
sacretary, and from 1921-27 he was match secretary, until he joined the Old Tauntonians
for whom he continued to play in matches, but still remained a membar of the club. He
won the Hampshire Individual Championship in 1933, 39, 47 & 51.

Mr. E. G. Parsonz (no relation of the writer) was a member for 41 years
from 1904—45, He was match secretary from 1926-39 for the club’s Southampton League
team, and from 1932-39 for the Hampshire League team as well.

Mr. F. G. Binning was one of the stronger playars between 1904 and 1927, and
remained a paying vica president untii 1937, but played much less frequently. He won
tha Cup in 1908, 1911, 1914,

Mr. R. T. Lawrence who joined in 1808 resigned in 1930 but rejoined in 1937 and
romained a membsr until 1948, He was match secretary 1912—-13, and club secretary
1919-20. Won the Cup in 1925; was on the committee 1916-28.

Mr. E. C, May (1303-1937) was tournament secretary 1912-20, a period of 8 years,
which is surprisingly a record, as no other tournament secretary has served morg than
b years, except W. J. Fry, whose service was in four spells, the longest being 4 years al-
though he totallad 10 years. Mr. May served on the committee 1911-32 when he moved
to Fareharn, but remained a paying vice president untit 1937.

Mr. A. B. Coa, 19121835, almost as strong a player as W, J. Fry, won the Cup in
1913 and tha Championship in 1922; was match secretary 1913—15 and on the committee
1919-1929. He was Secretary and Treasurer of the Hampshire Chess Association
1923-34 where his best work was done. Unfortunatsly he made himsalf very unpopular
in his later years, aspeciallly in the club and with players of other clubs in Southampton.



As a conseguence, Mr. F, L. Taylor, a younger member of the Southampton club
and secretary of Old Tauntonians was elected secretary at the Hampshirs Association's
Annual General Meeting in 1934. ’ .

The last of the players of this period of sufficient importance to be included, was
Mr. A. E. Gale. a member from 192447, and treasurar for most of that time 1925-45.
As a player he was anly of moderate strength, but as a regular membar who gave whola
hearted support to the club, he ranked amongst the highest.

MORE RECENT TIMES 1945 — 82

The club closed comptetely during the second World War 1939—45 but its spirit lived
on. )

At the end of the war, Mr. Fry approached me and asked if | would make afforts to
re-start the club. An extract from the Minute Book states, ‘"The first meeting (after the
war} of the Southampton Chess Club was held at the Co-opoerative Rooms, Prospect House,
160, Above Bar. on September 20th, 1G45. Mr. H. L. Parsons explained the reasons for
which the meeting was called, and thers was a largs atteridance. Mr. A, E. Gale was votad
to the Chair. It was decided to accept the accommodation provided for the ensuing
season, and that the rooms be open for play from 7 p.m. to 10.30 p.m. overy Thursday
and Saturday . . . . It was decided the club would be opaned on October 4th 1945 at
7 p.m.”’

Temporary officers wers elected until the General Mssting on October 25th, when the
temporary appointments ware confirmed with one exception. Those elected ware
President — Mr. F. J. H. Elwell; Club Secretary — Mr. H. L. Parsons; Match Secretary — Mr.
J. Kirby in place of Mr. E. G. Parsons who resigned: Tournament Secretary, Mr. W, J. Fry:
Treasurer — Mr. S. T. Smith. | agreed to act as secretary on a temporary basis as my work
as secretary of the League and as secretary of another organisation, took most of my spars
time, but 1 have retained the office to the present day with the exception of a short break
of 4 years from 1964 to 1968 when my wife was seriously ill. | do not claim any special
merit for these 33 years as club secretary, as most of the work during the seasan Is done
by the match captains who are also sacretaries for their teams nowadays, and by the
tournament secretary. The Club secretary’s work is chiefly at the beginning and end of the
soason, and in welcoming new members and making them faal they are happy to
be members of such a club, | had joined the club in 1935 and was elected to tha com-
mittee in 1936 until war broke out.

The equipment stored at the Cariton Hotel had not been damaged by the bombing,
but we were unable to use the premises again. They were soon sold for an extension to
St. Anne's School. The Co-operative Rooms remained the accommodation for the next
seven years,

When the club re-started, it entered a completely new era. All the officers elected
were new to their office except Mr, Fry, and Mr. Elwe!l, who resigned after one year. Mast
of the pre-war members who rejoined were elderly and their membership continued only a



short time; but thera were a few exceptions. Mr. H. H. Runham who had joinaed tha club
by 1930, (He may have joined befors, bui the records between 1920-30 contain the names
only of those whose names appear in the minutes of meetings. and these consist only of
people elected, or of their propagser and seconder) was elected President in 1946, and
resignad through ill health in 1957, He comhbined this office with that of match secretary
1954-~66. He also acted as tournament secratary (a job nobody seams to want) for part
of this time 19b5-567.

A similar comment to that above applies to Mr. §. T. Smith who had also joined by
1930. He was also compelied to resign as treasurer owing to ill health in 1950.

Fram the playing point of view, just as the inter war period had been dominated by
Mr. Elwell, now it was Mr. Fry whose playing record has already been mentioned, wheo
dominated during the early years of this period. Two younger players wers soon
challenging him. Mr. A, C. Barton 1246—49 and 1955-72, won both the championship and
the Handicap Cup in 1947; and after Mr. Fry's death in 1954, won again In 1956, B8, 65,
and 68. Mr. Barton was match captein for 15 years from 1957-72. He was another
player with whom | worked closely. From 1962—74 he was match secretary for the
Hampshire Chess Association, responsible for arranging the venues, starting times, and
equipment for County Matches, while | was match captain at the same time, responsible
for getting the teams of 50 for the same matches, and the travel arrangements for getting
them there, providing some of the equipment, and ascertaining that catering facilities were
adequate for teas. Mr. Barton won the Hampshire Championship in 19268, and has
organised it for some years. He was club treasurer for one year 1955-56.

The cther young player was Mr. M. W. J. Thomnson. He won the Trophy Board in
1953, and was tha only one between 195656 and 1979 to win tha championship in succes-
sive years, a feat which he achieved twice in 1959 and 80; 1973 and 74. He has won
tha Hampshire Championship 9 times, (far mora than any other player) in 58, 59, 61, 65,
67, 72, 74, 75, and 77. Owing to recurrant ill health his membarship has been intermittant.

John Patience was another young player who won ths club championship in 1965 at
the age of 17, shared it with C. Mc Sheehy (yst another young player) in 1966 and won
gutright again in 1970. Marshall Thompsen in 1960, and John Patierce in 1966 both
qualified for the final 32 to compete In the British Championship proper after winning the
qualifying rounds.

More recontly, Stephen Bell repeated the feat of winning the club championship in
cansecutive years 1380 and 81 while still a junior under the age of 18, and again in 1932.

The club passed through a difficult time in the early 1950's. Half way through the
1852-53 season, the club was told that it could only use Prospect House cn alternate
Tuesdays. For the next two years the Board Room of The Independent Qrder of Rechabites,
a first floor room at 22, Carlton Crescent was the club's venue, but the averags attendance
fefl to about 20 members. The 1963 Annual General Meeting had to be postponed for a
week, as there were insufficient members to form a quorum on the date fixed. A further
proposed steep increase in rent caused a guick removal in Qctober, 1866 to Northam Junior



School, but the membership fell even further. Through the efforts of Mr. t. E. Vine, who
was a friend of Mr. John Spedan-Lewis, the head of John Lewis, the Oxford Street. Londan,
store which had taken over Tyrrell and Green, Above Bar, we were able to use the staff
canteen there for the next 18 years.

Mr. Spedan Lewis had been a generous President of the Hampshire Chess Assaociation
in the years precading the war, and had allowed part of his London Store to be used as the
National Chess Centre. It became the venue for tha National Chess Club, and many County
Championship matches were held there — often as many as three 50 board matches on
the same Saturday afternocn. Mr. Lewis provided packed lunches for the players who
journeyed to London on the same train as himself for these matches. Mr. Lewis bscame
President of the Southampton Club for a year in 1957 but then resigned due to failing
health. He was a great benefactor both to the club, and to the Hampshire Chess
Association particularly.

Strangely enough, while the club was passing through this difficult time, {1955 being
probably the worst in its histary), the local leagus and schools’ league waera flourishing.
in March 1956 the Eritish Chess Federation held a National Chess Week. The Southampton
Leapue organised a hundred-a-side match *"0Old Stagers versus Teenagers”, with BQ boards
at Taunton's School and 50 boards at Itchen Grammar Schocl. As the Southampton
saction of this nation wide match was the only ons in the country apart from one at the
National Chess Centre to reach three figures, the British Chess Federation racognised this
magnificent effort by awarding a special prize, *'Tha Pitman Prize” to be awarded to a suit-
able Teenager. Tha Teenagers won locally 55-46 and Marshall Thompson was among
their top board winners.

The Change of venue in January, 1956 led to a change in the fortunes of the club.
In 1956 the club decided to dispose of its ofd fashioned English Club size sats of good
quality wood, as no one liked playing with them, and they were taking up valuable cup-
board space. The Members preferred to play with much smaller Staunton men which the
club bought to cope with increasing numbers. The discarded sets wers given to Tatchbury
Mount Hospital.

Angther factor In encouraging interest in the game was the introduction of the Grading
System. This enabled players to assess their improvemsent. Being Southampton Area
Grading Officer since 1956 has allowed me to watch the progress of many young players
to a very high standard.

Mr. R. 8. Gregory joined the club in 1945 and was treasurer from 1955-65,

Of the people so far mentioned In this history, only two are still membaers, Stephen
Bell and myself. From now onwards, nearly all are still members. Mr. M. W. Stone
joined in 1955, Mr. P. L. Marshall and Mr. L. C. Walters in 1956. All thres {at the time
of writing) are working hard, together with Mr. I. Stenhouse and myself, as a sub-committea
to plan a successful programme to celebrate our centenary, and not anly to bring it to the
notice of local inhabitants, but to publish It nationwide, aspecially Iin tha southern hali of
England among chess players.
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Mr. Stone was tournament secretary 1872-75. Mr. Marshall was elected treasurer
of the club in 1966, so to date has served 16 vears, beating Mr. Gale's 14 years, but not
the founder member Mr. William's 17 years. Mr. Marshall won the club championship in
1964. He has been Prasident of the Hampshire Chess Association since 1972. For the
last two years he has besen Hampshire Match Captain.

Qur chairman, Mr, Walters was elected to the post in 1966, He was responsibte for
getting The College of Tschnology in East Park Terrace as the venue for the club
in Dagcamber, 1973, when we had to leave Tyrrelt and Green ‘in a hurry owing to a
strengthening of thelr security arrangements more or less forced upon them by their
Insurance Policy. Both he and Mr. Marshall have continued to give valuable service to the
club. This move led to a further large increase in mambarship.

When tha rent at the college was incraasad to a prohibitive amount, both Mr. Waitars
and Mr. Marshall were responsible for finding our present accommodation at the Atherley
Bowling Club, Hill Lane, in 1981. Mr. Walters won the ciub champicnship in 1961 and 63.
Both he and Mr. Marshall are Hampshire's delegates to the West of England Chess Union,
and Mr. Walters is Hampshire’s delegate on the British Chass Federation Council.

Mr. Stenhouse who joined the club in 1967 was tournament secretary from 1969-72,

and Hampshire Match Captain 1974-78. He won the club championship in 1972 and 79.
He inaugurated, organized and controlled the Southampton Open Tournament, a week-
end event which attracted players from othars parts of the country, and which ran annually
from 1971-76. He is results secratary and Individual Championship cantroller for the
Southampton Chess League.

Mr. 5. M. Katz joined the club in 1960. For two years 1958-60 the club had no
president. He agreed to become president and expressed his wish to support the club as
much as possible, but also to “take a back seat’ as often as possible. His business pre-
vented him from regular attendance, and when a few years later he moved to Bournemouth
to live and to commute to his business in Southampton, he was rarely able to visit the
club, but has loyaily continued to support the club financially, and by his interest in what
is happening, during his 22 years as president.

It would be almost impossible and also invidious to mention many other membars who
have given valuahle service to the club over shorter periods of time, but | think it only just,
to mention a few both past and present.

Mr. R. Senior 1900-13 was tournamant secratary 190508 and club secretary
1907-13. He was made a lifa membear on leaving the town in 1913 and died in 1918.

Mr. J. T. Boyd, for many years the contraller of the British Chess Federation Counties
Correspondence Championship, spent five years in Southampton after coming from
Lancashire 1948-683, and most efficiently ran the tournaments of the club,

Mr. T. Mumford (19569-69) was Match Captain of the B team in the Second Division
of the Hampshire League in 1961. From 1964-68 he was club secratary and tournament
secretary, and he retained the latter position for a further year.
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Team resuits have varied considerably over tha years. The two main causes being
the division into several teams of equal strength in tha earlier years, and membars playinhg
for other teams in the Southampton League, and the Hampshire Leagus. The increase in
the number of County Championship matches has also affected the strength of the Hamp-
shire League Teams. During the years 1950-71 thera were very few outstanding team
performances. The one team entared by the club in the Southampton League never finished
higher than second. '

In the last decade thers has been more success, Mr. D, E. Bower 196881 was
match captain of the Hampshire League and MNational Club Team 1973-81 when he left the
city to work in London. The team won the Hampshire Leagus on six of these eight years.
Near the beginning of this history, comment was made about a match at Brighton. Almost
a century later, in February, 1981, Southampton was drawn away against Brighton_.in the
drd round of the National Club Championship. Although one of the conditions has
reversed — 3outhampton s now twice as populous as Brighton — others were much the
same. On paper the Brighton team headed by Grand Master Raymond Keene, were an
average of almost 30 grade points higher than each Southampton player. Brighton's lowest
had a grade of 185, Southampton’s highest 188, Southampton wan 3+-2% and went on to
reach the 5th round — a remarkable giant killing performance. The second team compet-
ing in the new svent of 1980-81, the National Minor Club Championship with limited
gradings, reached the final where they werae beaten by Gloucester, but received a chess
clock as runners-up,

Mr. D. W, Bell (father of Stephen previously mentioned) who joined in 1972, has
captained Southampten League first team since 1973. The team has succeaded in winning
the League Championship In 1976, 77, 78, 80, and the Robertson Cup in 1979 in spite of
opposition during that time from very strang University teams. Mr. Bell has been our
strongest player during these vyears, except perhaps for the comparatively few occasions
when Mr. Thompson played In the National Club or Hampshire League matchas; but
because of his pra-occupation with his duties as match captain he has won the Club
championship only once, in 1976.

Mr. A. M. Paine 1972-77, & match captain for the 2nd team, and tournament sacratary
197577 proposed a new form of compatition to include the Championship and minor
tournaments, which is the method still in use,

Mr. L. C. Allen [oined as a junior member 1862-66, rejoined in 1975 and has been
match captain for the 2nd team.

Mr. A. C. Summers 1972-82 has been mastch captain of one of the lower
teams 1975-81.

We must remember that the success of a club depends upon all its members whose
work is impossible to mention, but who have contributed, and who still contribute to its
success in one way or another. Apologies to any who feel they should have been included.

For several years, about a third of our club membership of around 80 persons has
comprised strong junior players. King Edward VI School teem of slx playars, succeeded
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in reaching the final four to decide the winnars of the "“Sunday Times’ National Schools’
Championship Tournament in thrae successiva years, 1979, 1980, 1981. Tha team which
won the championship in 1980, contained five of our junior members : Michaal Jacksan,
Stephen Bell, Andrew Kluth, Philip Stevenson and Michaal O'Sullivan. In 1979 and 1981
the school had to be content with fourth placa. Stephsn Ball and Andrews Kluth played
in each of the threa years. Michae!l Jackson playsd in 1379 and Philip Stevenson in 1981.
Mark Buchan was in the 1981 team. This 1981 team won the Robertson Cup in 1982 and
only just failed to win the Seuthampton Leagus Championship to a very strong University
sidse.

A. J. Berry who won the club championship in 1977 later played for Cambridge
University against Oxford University. B. P. A. Andrews winner of the club championship
in 1978 played top board for Oxford University’s second team.

Encouragement of even younger players took a significant step forward in September,
1981 with the formation of a Southampton Junior Chess Club mesting on Sunday after-
noons during term time at the Deanery School under the leadership of Mr. T. P. O'Farroll
and Mr. L. T. Walker, assisted by M. J. Buckmaster. An opeaning two day age group
congress was attended by 172 local junior players. Eight year old Mark Walker joined both
sonior and junior c¢lubs, Befare he was nine, he had qualified for a play-off with thres
others for the under 18 championship, scoring 24/3 against players with grades ovar 160
and 170. He lost the final play off. He won the Southampton Schools’ League under 12
championship, and finished seventh in tha London under 12 championship in 1882, His
future will be watched with interest.

SOUTHAMPTON CLUB CHAMPIONS

1921 F.J. H. Elwali 1946 W, J. Fry 18685 P. J. Patience
1922 A.B. Coe 1847 A. C. Barton 1966{ P. J. Patience
1923 No Contest 1948 W. ). Fry C. McSheehy
1924 F. J. H. Elwell 1949 “ 1987 L. E. Vins

1925 " 1950 ' 1968 A. C. Barton
1826 W. J. Fry 1951 e 1969 M. W. Johnson
1927 F.J. H. Elweli 1862 " 1870 P. J. Patience
1928 “ 1953 " 1971 B. F. O'Sullivan
1929 . 1964 " 1972 | Stenhouse
1930 " 1955 No Contest 18973 M. W.J. Thompson
1931 W.J .Fry 1966 A. C. Barton 1974 e

1932 F. J. H. Elwell " 1957 G. L. Pritchard 1975 D. E. Bower
1833 . 1958 A. C. Barton 1976 D. W. Batl

1934 W. J. Fry 1859 M. W. J. Thompson 1877 A. ). Berry

1935 F. J. H. Elwneil 1960 e 1978 B. P. A. Andraws
1936 v 1961 L. C. Walters 19789 I. Stenhouse
1937 H. H. R. Northover i962 A, C. Barton 1980 S. D. Ball

1938 F.J. H. Elwell 1263 L. C. Waltars 1981 "

1939 v 1264 P. L. Marshall 1982 "
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1890
1891
1892
1893
1894
1895
1896
1897
1898
1899
1900
1801
1902
1903
1904
1905
1906
1907
1908
1909
1910
1911
1912
1913

1896
1897
1898
1899
1900
1301
1902
1903
1904
19056
1908
1907
1908
1909
1910
1911
1912
1913
1914
19156
1916
1217

W. J. Fry — 1933, 39, 47, 51.
M. W. J. Thompson — 1958, 59, 61, 65, 67, 72, 74,75, 77.

14

W. C. Kenny
F. J. H. Elwall
W. C. Kenny
F. J. H. Elwail
J. H, Blake
G. R. Sloper
A. M. Brown
J. H. Blake

. J. Beer

. H. Blake

. E. Lloyd

Ta'r'gett
H Biake

G. Binning

. Targett

. L. Watkin

. J. H. Eiwell
. S. Mackie

G Binning

. C. Whitcher
. B. Coe

>>ﬂ§1m1m “ I 0ot

. E. Corbin
. H. Lanham
. S. Briarley
. 8, Fenwick
. J. E. Whitmarsh
. H. Caws
. Hicken
. Senior
. M. Veitch
. G. Binning
. W. Foot
. H. R. Northover
N Clarka
. H. McGrath
. F. Muir
. C. Whitcher
. Parker
. T. Lawrence
. S. Gibbs
. Grimshaw
. C. May
. d. Brﬂdbury

4mvnmn>1mr1uﬂxwmmmgﬁm1

1914 F. G. Binning 1938 A. J, Draper
1816 F. J. H. Elwali 1939 A Levack
1916 o 194045 No contest
1817 W. S. Mackie 1946{ W. J. Fry
1918 o H. L. Parsons
1919 W. ). Fry 1947 A, C. Barton
1920 L. lllingworth 1948 N. R. Diaper
1921 W. J. Fry 1849 H. L. Parsons
1922 " 1950 R. S. Gregory
1923 C. Burnard 1951 { H. L. Parsons
1924 H. H. R. Northover } I. Ramsey
1925 R.T. Lawrence 1862  Miss A, Rice
1926 F. J. H. Elwell 1953 C. Parker
1927 1954 A.E. Horne
1928 W. F Hodges No records
1929 H. 8. Leathers Changed to under 18
1930 E. C. May championship
1931 8. Emslay 1977(T M. Joslin
1932 F.J. H. Elwell { R. C. Noyce
1933 M. Clifford 1978 R. C. Noyce
1834 F. J. H. Elwall 1879 J. S. Tillay
1936 M. Clifferd 1980 M. Buchan
1936 iy 1981 M. Buchan
1837 A, E. Gale 1982 K. Fuller
TROPHY BOARD WINNERS
1318 F. J. Parrott 1946 H. Huntley
1919 D, Wargester 1847 F. H. Walton
1920 A, J. H. Duffy 1948 A, J. Kirby
1921 G. Bernard 1949 G. L. Pritchard
1922 A, C. Crawford 1950 M. G. Sayers
1923 F. Craig 1951 §. Ryzewski
1924 W. F. Whitfiald 1952 G, Baverstock
1925 W. G. Kimber 18563 M. W. J. Thompsaon
1928 F. Hej! 1954 G. Daw
1927  W. R. Bryson 19559 No contest
1928 H. S, Leathers 1860 M. D. Thompson
1929 C.T. Clark 1862 T. Mumford
1930 W. G. Kimber 1963 P. Hurn
1931 i 1264 A, C. Barton
1932 C. R. Foot 1976 { P. Claugh
1933 A. F. McKenzie 1 1. T. Sherman
1934 J. K. McHardy 1877 J. J. Evans
1935 P. McKeeafrey 1978 K. J. Smith
1936 K. N. Reed 18979  J. D. King
1937 A Levack 1980 P, (5. Stevenson
1938 1981 A. C. Summers
1939 E. Sibley 1982 A. K. Blades

CUP WINNERS

HAMPSHIRE CHAMPIONSHIP WINNERS
F. J. H. Elweil — 1930, 1932, 34, 38, 37.

A. C. Barton — 1968,



SOUTHAMPTON DISTRICT INDIVIDUAL CHAMPIONSHIP WINNERS

M. W. J. Thompson — 1959, 60, 61, 72, 73, 74, 77.
P. L. Marshall — 1957, 58. A. C. Barton & M. G, Ford tied 1962.
B. F. O'Sullivan — 1970. T. M. Joslin — 1980.

19561
1881

TEAM HONOURS

National Club Championship — reached Zonal Semi-Final.

Mational Club Champianship — reached the last 16 {(round b) after beating the
powerful Brighton team in round 3.

The second team were rupners-up in the National Minor Club Championship.

HAMPSHIRE CHESS ASSOCIATION CLUB CHALLENGE TROPHY

First awarded 1896. Won by Southampton in 1897, 98, 98 tie with Portsmouth, 1902, 03,
04, 05, 08, 09, 12, 22, 31, 54, 58, 68, 73 tie with University, 74, 76, 77, 78, 79, 81, 82.

ROBERTSON CUP
First awarded 1928. Won by Southampton 1933, 35, 36, 38, 39, 47, 49, 58, 62, 79.

SOUTHAMPTON LEAGUE DIVISION | CHAMPIONSHIP BOARD
First awarded in 1923 to Southampton, then 29, 32, 37, 46, 47, 48, B0, 71, 76, 77, 78, 80.

1883
1883
1885
1908
1915
1920
1921
1923
1928
1932
1945
1863
19656
1966
1973
1981

VENUES

Samadeni's Restaurant, 163, High Street.
Helvetia Restaurant, 141, High Street.
Adelaide Restaurant, Scullards Hotel, 61 Above Bar.
Bungalow Cafs, 157 Above Bar.

Grammar School, Havelock Road.

St. Paul’s Parish Room, Bedford Place.
Bungalow Cafe, 157, Above Bar.

Grosvenor Cafe, 43, Above Bar.

Carlton Hotel, Carlton Crescent.

Carlton Hotel Annexe, Carlton Crescent.
Prospect House, 180 Above Bar.

1.0.R. Board Room, 22 Carlton Crescent.
Northam School,

Staff Restaurant, Tyrrell & Green, Above Bar.
College of Technology, East Park Terrace.
Atherley Bowling Club, Hill Lane.
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1883-1907
19071821
18211946
1883-1900
1900~ 04
1904~ 09
1809— 13
1913— 14
1914 25
1926— 39
1883-1900
1900- 07
1807- 13
1913—- 15
1915 16
1916- 19
1918— 20
1920 25
1900-1902
1902— 04
1904- 05
1906—- 08
1208- 12
1912— 20
1920~ 21
1921~ 23
1923- 25
1926— 28
1928- 31
1931- 34
1934~ 35
1935- 39
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fi. C. Chipperfield, J.P.

W, C. Kenny
F. J. H. Elwell

W. Williams
W. G. Tracy
W. Jackson
W. H. Killick
T. Rice

W. F. Sandall
A E. Gale

J. H. Blake
H. J. Penwill
R. Senior

F. J. Lander

H. J. E. Batchalor .

W. J. Fry
R. T. Lawrence
W. O, Robertson

PRESIDENTS

1946-67 H. H. Runham
1957-68

CHAIRMAN

TREASURERS

19451850

1960-
1861-
1966-
1966~
1966

51
55
65
66
82

19261927

1927-
1931-
1934
1936—
1945
1964—
1968—

31
34
35
39
64
68
82

J.
1960-82 S.

1966~-82 L. C. Walters

CLUB SECRETARIES

Spedan Lewis
M. Katz

arrott

Lewis

. F. Hodges
. 8. Joyce

. F. McKenzie
. J. Draper

. L. Parsons

. H. Mumford
. L. Parsons

TOURNAMENT SECRETARIES

C. E. Lloyd
W. Jackson
R. T. Forrest
R. Senior

L. N. Clarke
E. C. May
W. J. Fry

W. Cooke

A. C. Crawford
W. R. Bryson
W. J. Fry

S. Emslay
M. Clifford
W. J. Fry

1945-1947
1847— 48
1948- 53
1863~ 56
1955~ &7
1957— 80
1960— &3
1963— 64
1964~ 69
1969— 72
1972— 75
1875~ 77
1977—- 78
1978~ 82

W. J. Fry

A. M. Edmonds
J. 7. Boyd

R. F. Pezet

H. H. Runham
G. L, Pritchard
J. Waller

P. Hurn

T. Mumford

1. Stenhousge
M. W. Stone
A. M. Paine

L. C. Allen

H. L. Parsons



1900-1903
1903— 05
1905— 08
1908— 10

MATCH SECRETARIES AND CAPTAINS

F. J. H. Elwall
J. R. Waldron
W. Vaitch

F. J. H. Eiwell

1910~1912 L. N. Clarke 1917-1919  H. J. Penwill
1912— 13 R.T. Lawrence 1919—= 21 L. llingworth
1913 15 A.B. Coe 1921- 27 W. J. Fry
1915— 17 P, E. Rush

With the Southampton League starting in 1922 there were two secretaries at various times,
and since 1971 up to six match captaing according to the number of teams.

1927-31

1931-32
1932-39
1845-46
1947-48
1948-50
1950-54
195456
1956-57
1967-67
1967-72
1972-73
1973-81

1981-82

HS below means secretary for Hampshirs and Scuthampton league.

HAMPSHIRE

H. 8. Leathers
W. G. Kimber

. G. Parsons

J. Kirby

H. L. Jackson
M. Edmends
H. L. Jackson
H. Runham
Newby

C. Barton

C. Barton

. L. Parsons

. E. Bawear

. J. Buckmaster

ZOIPPOIOPORM

HS
HS
HS
HS
HS
HS
HS
HS

HS

1922-23
1923-24
1924-25
1826-39
1867-70
1970-71
1971-72
1973-82
197377
187478
1975-31
1976-78
1977--78
1978-79
1978-80
1978-82
187980
1880-82
1980-81

SOUTHAMPTON

A.B. Cas

A. C. Crawford

W. R. Bryson

E. G. Parsons

M. W. Johnson

B. O'Sullivan

M. W. Johnson; B. O'Sullivan
D. W. Bell

A, M. Paine

P. N .W. Freeman

A. C. Summers

L. C. Alien

M, J. Buckmaster

I. Sherman; T. H. Anstoy
C. O'Bee

T. L. Hutchins

D. Beer

R. A. Chance

L. C. Allen
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R. Chipperfield
J. H. Blake

J. Fewings

G. R. Sloper
E. P. Westlake
W. Williams
W. G. Tracy
W. C. Kenny
F. J. H. Elwell
H. J. Penwill
. Killick

. Parsons

., Binning
. Lawrence
May
Coe

Fry
Gale

. Runham
. Parsons
. Barton

. Gregory
. W. Stone
. L. Marshall
. C. Walters
. M. Katz

gPprpITPrPEsPrpmMmI®»Omsg
WOrIme®OH466

w o
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Sept.
Dec.

ROLL OF HONOUR

=

For Long Service [including 1939-45)

1883-1911
1883~1951
1883-1920
1883-1903
1883-1330
18831819
1883~1904
18831921
1888--1963
1891-1930
1895-1918
1904—1945
1904-1937
1908-30: 37-48
19091937
1912-1935
1913-1954
19241947
19301957
1935-
1946-49; BE-72
1846-1965
1955—
1856—
1956—
1860-

Tetal

28
68
37
20
a7
a6
21
38
65
39
23
a1
33
33
28
23
a1
23
27
47
20
19
27
26
26
22

Nominal

4
44

39
12

16

Active

24

24

37

20
8

24

21

38

£8

39

18

41

23

33

23

23

41

23

27

47 to date

20

19

27 to date

26 to date

26 to date
€ to date



